
HEARING OFFICER, CAREER SERVICE BOARD 
CITY AND COUNTY OF DENVER, COLORADO 
Appeal No. 36-13 

DECISION AND ORDER 

IN THE MATTER OF THE APPEAL OF: 

PHAZARIA KOONCE, Appellant 

vs. 

DEPARTMENT OF SAFETY, DENVER SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT, 
and the City and County of Denver. a municipal corporation, Agency. 

The hearing in this appeal alleging retaliation was held on January 7 and 8, 2014 before 
Hearing Officer Valerie McNaughton. Appellant was represented by Scott Mcleod. Esq .. and 
Donald C. Sisson. Esq. Assistant City Attorney Jennifer Jacobson represented the Agency. 
Appellant testified on her own behalf, and presented the testimony of Elias Diggins. Rick 
Guerrero, Marie Kieler. Fronk Gale, and Carl Koonce. The Agency presented the testimony of 
Shirley Beye. Emily Lauck. and Ashley Kilroy. Having considered the evidence and arguments of 
the parties. the Hearing Officer makes the following findings of fact and conclusions of law. and 
enters the following order. 

I. STATEMENT OF THE APPEAL 

On Aug. 5. 2013. Captain Phazaria Koonce (Appellant) filed this appeal against the 
Deportment of Safety (Agency). alleging temporary reduction in pay. demotion. discrimination 
and retaliation. All claims but retaliation were dismissed by order doted Sept. 18, 2013. The 
parties stipulated at hearing to Agency Exhibits 1. 2. 5. 7. 11 and 12. Agency's Exhibit 4 and 
Appellants Exhibits A- F were admitted at hearing. 

11. FINDINGS OF FACT 

Appellant was employed by the Agency as a Deputy Sheriff in 1995. She was thereafter 
promoted to Sergeant and in 2008 achieved the rank of Captain. Appellant manages a 
division at the Denver County Jail within the Sheriff's Deportment. a sub-agency under the 
Deportment of Safety. Prior to July 30. 2013. Appellant had never been disciplined. and was 
consistently given superior performance ratings. 

On June 1. 2011. Major Rick Guerrero met with Appellant, his direct report. to discuss 
several complaints made by her subordinates about Appellant's communication skills. (Guerrero 
testimony. 1 /7/14. 11 :15 am.] Appellant later complained to Human Resources Specialist Emily 
Lauck that Guerrero had made derogatory racial references during that meeting. and had 
mocked her as an African-American woman. The complaint was investigated over the course 
of the following year. During that time. Guerrero was not permitted to act as Appellant's 
supervisor. Division Chief Elias Diggins assumed the responsibility for Appellant's supervision in the 
interim. 



In January 2012, Appellant was named an Acting Major in the Denver County Jail and 
assigned to manage over 300 employees, three times the number she supervises when 
functioning as Captain. In addition to her supervisory duties, Appellant managed a construction 
project in Building 254, as well as accreditation and security issues at the jail. That same month, 
Program Administrator Shirley Beye was transferred into Appellant's division to oversee 
educational and religious programming for inmates at the jail, including the R.I.S.E. (Recovery In 
a Secured Environment) program developed in 2011 by Appellant's team to provide addiction 
treatment program within the jail setting. Given the scope of her duties as Acting Major, 
Appellant relied on specialists such as Beye to administer their programs with minimal 
supervision. 

Shortly thereafter. Beye complained to Diggins about Appellant. Over the next six 
months, Chief Diggins received complaints from two other employees that Appellant was overly 
critical of them. Diggins discussed the complaints with Appellant. and coached her on methods 
to improve her management style. (Exh. 6.) 

Appellant observed that Ms. Beye appeared to be overwhelmed and was having 
difficulty managing her subordinates. Beye admitted at hearing that she was unfamiliar with the 
R.I.S.E program. (Beye, l /7 /14, 2:41, 3:06 pm.) Diggins told Appellant he was not confident that 
Beye could handle her duties. (Appellant. l /7 /14, 8:24 am.) At one point. Diggins informed 
Beye that her performance was not rising to the level necessary for her position, and suggested 
she take a demotion. Beye declined that offer. (Diggins testimony, 1 /7 / 14. 10:34 pm.) 

That spring, the investigation into Appellant's discrimination complaint against Guerrero 
was finally wrapping up. Major Venessie Brown of Internal Affairs informed Appellant in May that 
she did not sustain her discrimination charge. (Appellant, l /7 / 14, 4 :38 pm.) Deputy Manager 
Ashley Kilroy met with Appellant on June 4th• and explained that there was insufficient evidence 
to "tip the scales• toward a discrimination finding. She also conveyed her concern about the 
working relationship between Appellant and Major Guerrero. Kilroy told Appellant that Guerrero 
suggested they participate in a mediation session. Appellant accepted the results of the 
investigation, but said she was uncomfortable with mediation because of Guerrero's aggressive 
communication style. Appellant observed that Kilroy did not appear happy with that response. 
Up to that time, Appellant and Kilroy had been on a first-name basis and they hod worked well 
together in various groups. (Appellant, 1 /7 / 14, 4:44 pm.) 

Kilroy called Diggins into the Manager of Safety's Office to discuss her concerns about 
Appellant's management style. When Diggins asked Kilroy why she did not launch on internal 
investigation based on those concerns. Kilroy replied that she did not yet hove enough 
information. Kilroy said she would be emailing Appellant and Guerrero an order to attend a 
facilitated conversation with the city's contract mediator. Diggins then met with Appellant on 
June 19, 2012, and conveyed this information to her. Appellant told Diggins that she felt she was 
being retaliated against. Kilroy's email order to mediation arrived on June 26. 2012. (Exh. F.) 
Appellant continued to refuse, and the order was thereafter withdrawn without action. 

On July 8. 2012, Beye resigned from her Program Administrator position. At Diggins' 
suggestion. Beye submitted a letter to explain the reasons for her resignation. The letter stated 
she took that action because Appellant had failed to give her the information and training 
necessary to perform her job. (Exh. 7.) At that same time. Beye was the subject of a different 
Internal Affairs investigation for failing to report an incident of workplace violence. (Diggins. 
1 /7 / 14, 10:40 am.) Beye admitted at hearing that the Internal Affairs investigation had some 

? 



bearing on her decision to resign. (Beye, 1 /7 /14, 2:41, 3:06 pm.) 

Human Resource Specialist Emily Louck gave Beye's letter of resignation to Deputy 
Manager Kilroy, and informed her that another employee also intended to file a complaint 
against Appellant. The second employee did not thereafter file a complaint. 

On July 13, 2012, Kilroy commenced an internal investigation into Appellant's 
management skills. In recognition of the fact that Appellant is the sister of Sheriff Gary Wilson, 
who is the head of the Denver Sheriff's Department, Kilroy referred the investigation to the 
Denver Police Department's Internal Affairs Bureau OAB) rather than the Sheriff's Department IAB, 
"to guard against a perceived potential conflict of interest." (Exh. 2.) After discussing the matter 
with Manager of Safety Alex Martinez. Kilroy suspended Appellant's supervisory duties during the 
investigation to protect the identity of any witnesses under Appellant's supervision. (Exh. 1 .) 

During discussions with Kilroy about the matter, Diggins questioned her decision to 
remove Appellant's supervisory duties. (Kilroy, l /8/ 14, l: 19 pm.) He told Kilroy that the order left 
him with questions about what duties Appellant could perform, and would affect the division's 
ability to complete its work. Diggins testified that believes the negative focus on Appellant was 
not based as it should be on any violations of policy or procedure, but rather on Appellant's 
refusal to mediate with Guerrero. He added that he did not feel Kilroy took the actions against 
Appellant because of her discrimination complaint. and conceded there did seem to be 
morale issues among AppeUant' staff. (Diggins, 1/7 /14, 9:59 am.) It is undisputed that 
management-level officials in the department are frequent targets of complaints by their 
subordinates. (See testimony of Guerrero, Diggins, Gale.) 

Shortly thereafter, Appellant's attorney sent a letter to the Mayor of Denver complaining 
that the Internal Affairs investigation was retaliation for Appellant's June, 2011 complaint of 
discrimination against Major Guerrero. (Exh. 5.) 

During the Police Department's investigation, twenty-one employees were interviewed, 
including Appellant. (Exhs. 4, 6, 8.) On June 13, 2013, the investigation concluded with Ms. 
Kilroy's finding that the allegations were sustained. A month later. Kilroy served a pre-disciplinary 
letter on Appellant. The letter charged Appellant with failure to meet performance standards 
related to management and communication skills. Several examples from the investigative 
interviews were cited. including incidents where Appellant yelled from her office, belittled 
employees in front of others. and failed to provide needed training to her staff. Some 
employees told the investigator that Appellant questioned them in an aggressive manner about 
who else complained about her. and cancelled assignments in retaliation for their complaints. 
At the pre-disciplinary meeting on July 15, 201 3, Appellant stated it was difficult to respond 
without knowing the names of those who made the statements, but that in general she valued 
her employees but held them accountable, just as she is held accountable by her supervisors. 
(Exh. 11.) 

On July 29, 2013, Appellant's Acting Major assignment was terminated ond she was 
returned to her position as Captain. Appellant was also transferred from the County Jail Division 
to the Downtown Division. (Appeal. Atch. pp. 5 - 6.) That same day. Appellant was placed on a 
six-month Performance Improvement Plan (PIP) by Division Chief Michael Than directing her to 
improve her communication and management skills. (Exh. 12.) The following day, Kilroy issued a 
written reprimand to Appellant for failing to meet standards of performance related to her 
supervisory duties. (Exh. 11.) 



On Aug. 2, 2013, Appellant filed a complaint and grievance alleging these actions 
constituted race and sex discrimination, as well as retaliation for her 2011 discrimination charge 
against Guerrero. (Appeal, Atch. pp 1 - 4.) Appellant testified that she also believed the actions 
were retaliation by Kilroy for her refusal to mediate with Guerrero. (Appellant, 1 /7 /14, 4:43 pm.) 

Ill. ANALYSIS 

The sole issue in this appeal is whether Appellant established by a preponderance of the 
evidence that. in toking various negative actions against Appellant in July 2013. the Agency was 
motivated by a desire to retaliate against Appellant for a protected activity. A retaliation claim 
requires proof "l) that she engaged in protected activity in opposition to unlawful discrimination; 
2) that a reasonable employee would have found the challenged action to be materially 
adverse; and 3) (there was) a causal connection between the adverse employment action and 
the employee's protected activity." In re Gallo, CSB 63-09, 3 (3/17 /11 ), citing Montes v. Vail 
Clinic, 497 F.3d 1160, 1176 (10th Cir. 2007.) 

The Agency argues that retaliation now requires a heightened measure of proof based 
on the Supreme Court's University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center v. Nassar, 570 U.S. 2517 
(2013). Under that decision, the Court held that retaliation in violation of 42 USC § 2000e-3(a) 
must be proven by evidence that retaliation was the but-for cause of the adverse employment 
action. It based that holding on its interpretation of that statute since the passage of the 1991 
Civil Rights Act, 105 Stat. 1071. Among other amendments to the Civil Rights Act of 1964, "the 
1991 Act substituted a new burden-shifting framework" that permitted on employee to obtain 
equitable relief even if the employer avoided payment of damages by successfully 
demonstrating it would have token the same action in the absence of status-based 
discrimination. The Nassar Court relied on the dictionary definition of the word "because•, a 
word used to describe the type of causation needed to prove both status-based and conduct
based discrimination. 42 USC§ 2000e-2; 3(o); Gross v. FBL Financial Services, Inc., 557 U.S. 167 
(2009). Following Nassar, three federal courts have expressed doubt about the correct 
causation standard applicable to Title II retaliation claims. See Stoner v. Arkansas Dept. of 
Correction. 2013 WL 6061651 (E.D.Ark., 2013); Bishop v. Ohio Dept. of Rehab & Corr., 529 
Fed.Appx. 685 (6th Cir. 2013); Coleman v. Jason Pharm, 2013 WL 5203559 (5th Cir. 2013). The 
Tenth Circuit declined to "predict Nasser's effect" on state retaliation law. Lobato v. New 
Mexico Environment Dept., 733 F.3d 1283, 1297). · 

This case arises under rules that do not define retaliation, but describe it by use of 
examples. CSR § 15-106. None of the four examples of retaliatory conduct in our rule rise to the 
level of an appealable adverse action. CSR §§ 15-106; 19-10 A 1: see also Burlington Northern 
and Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. White, 548 U.S. 53 (2006). The Career Service Board has made it clear 
that other prohibitions in the Code of Conduct do not require the level of proof needed to 
establish the basis of a Title VII lawsuit. 

(An interpretation that) would require proof that the harassing behavior was 
severe and pervasive enough to create a hostile work environment ... is contrary 
to the express of language of CSR 15-101, which prohibits all harassment on the 
basis of sex, race or other protected status. Such an interpretation of Rule 15 
would discourage the prompt reporting of harassing conduct, hinder the ability of 
City agencies to effectively redress such conduct and increase the City's 
exposure in Title Vil lawsuits. 

In re Gallo, supra, at 5, emphasis in original. 



Given the intent of the Career Service Rules to encourage complaints, investigations and 
remedial action for less serious behavior than which violates federal law, it follows that retaliation 
under the City's Code of Conduct need not require the same level of evidence necessary to 
prove retaliation under Title VII. The Supreme Court has held that Title VII does not preempt state 
and local laws which provide greater protection against discriminatory conduct. The Court 
quoted with approval the 9th Circuit's description of Title VII as "a floor beneath which (state law) 
may not drop - not a ceiling above which (it) may not rise." California Federal Sav. and Loan 
Ass'n v. Guerra, 479 U.S. 272, 285 (1987). 

Thus, retaliation under our rule still requires on appellant to prove the same three 
elements confirmed in the Gallo decision: l) she took action to oppose unlawful discrimination; 
2) the employer took materially adverse action against her; and 3) there was a causal 
connection between the adverse action and the protected activity. Gallo, supra, at 3. 

It is undisputed that Appellant engaged in protected activity in June, 2011 when she 
complained to HR Specialist Emily Louck that Guerrero discriminated against her based on her 
race and sex. Based on this evidence, Appellant proved the first element of her retaliation 
claim. 

At hearing, Appellant testified that she also believed Kilroy retaliated against her for 
refusing to mediate in June 2012. Diggins stated that he too came to believe that Kilroy's actions 
were taken in retaliation for Appellant's refusal to mediate. Significantly, Diggins also testified 
that he did not believe the actions were retaliation for Appellant's discrimination complaint. 
However, a refusal to mediate is not a report of discrimination or other action that assists the City 
with a discrimination complaint under CSR 15-106. As a result this evidence does not support 
Appellant in proving she engaged in a protected activity. In any event Appellant adequately 
established this element by virtue of her 2011 discrimination complaint. 

The second element is the imposition of an adverse action. Appellant contends that the 
series of unfavorable events started with the inadequate investigation of her 2011 complaint 
and continued in 2012 with a frivolous investigation encouraged by Guerrero and the 
elimination of her supervisory duties. It ended in 2013 with the imposition of three actions against 
her. 

At hearing, Appellant presented no factual support for her theory that the investigation 
into her discrimination complaint was inadequate. In fact Appellant conceded that the 
investigation was headed by her friend and colleague, Major Brown, who is also on African 
American woman. Appellant also offered no evidence to prove that Guerrero directed the 
investigators to certain employees, or that he encouraged employees to present evidence 
against Appellant. Emily Louck assisted with the DPD investigation, and testified that Guerrero 
was not a complainant therein. (Lauck, l /8/14, 11 :06 am.) Guerrero denied toking any action 
to support the investigation against Appellant, and Appellant did not rebut that testimony. 
(Guerrero, l /7 / l 4. 11 :50 am.) 

Appellant did present the testimony of several management witnesses who confirmed 
that other managers were placed on investigative leave during investigations, but that none 
had their supervisory duties removed. However. Kilroy testified credibly that under ordinary 
circumstances, the supervisor makes this decision. Here. the Deputy Manager of Safety made 
the decisions rather than Appellant's supervisor because Appellant is the sister of the head of the 



Sheriff's Department. The Department of Safety exercises civilian oversight over the Sheriff's 
Department. Deputy Manager of Safety Kilroy explained that she removed Appellant's 
supervisory duties because the complaints were coming from Appellant's subordinates, and 
Kilroy sought to protect their identity during the investigation. Kilroy took similar action against 
Guerrero while Appellant's complaint was pending by restricting him from supervising Appellant. 
Thus, Appellant failed to prove Appellant was subjected to discriminatory disparate treatment 
by evidence that other supervisors took different action against other employees. See In re 
Maestos, CSA 64-07 (5/30/08). 

Appellant claims that the retaliation concluded with several negative actions taken 
against her on July 29 and 30. 2013. The actions included her removal from the position of 
Acting Major. a written reprimand, and a six-month performance improvement plan. While the 
Agency argues that the July actions should be analyzed separately and disregarded unless they 
were disciplinary and affected her pay. that approach is inconsistent with CSR 15-106. The rule 
only requires that a reasonable person in Appellant's position would have been deterred from 
engaging in protected activity by the actions taken. Appellant is a long-term and high-level 
management employee with excellent evaluations. frequent promotions and no previous 
discipline. Her receipt of three actions from the Deputy Manager of Safety within the space of 
two days might well have led a reasonable employee to forego any future protected activity. I 
find that Appellant did establish that the actions token by the Agency were materially adverse. 
and thus proved the second element of a retaliation claim under the Career Service Rules. 

Finally, Appellant must prove a causal connection between her protected activity and 
the adverse actions. Appellant argues that, but for her discrimination complaint, none of the 
negative actions would have been taken against her. The complaint in her view led the 
Agency to hyper-focus on her work relationships. first with Guerrero. and next with Beyes, leading 
to an investigation that gradually uncovered the names of several subordinates unhappy with 
her management style. 

However. the evidence dispelled the assumption of retaliatory intent. Appellant did not 
present any evidence supporting her theory that the Agency's findings and discipline were 
imposed to penalize her for her discrimination complaint. DPD Internal Affairs conducted the 
investigation. and Agency officials exercised no apparent influence on its outcome. Guerrero 
specifically denied that he participated in the investigation in any manner, and Lauck 
corroborated that evidence. The investigation expanded gradually in the usual manner. as one 
witness's testimony suggested similar incidents where Appellant displayed poor management 
practices or a dismissive communication style. When the investigation concluded, it showed a 
pattern of like behavior that required correction. The resulting actions taken by the Agency 
were tailored to implement the corrections needed: Appellant was returned to supervising 75 
rather than 300 employees, given written notice of the offending conduct, and placed on an 
improvement plan. There is no credible evidence indicating that the Agency intended thereby 
to punish her for a complaint she made two years before these actions. 

In fact, the July 2012 meeting between Kilroy and Diggins shed the most light on the 
reason for the Agency's actions. Kilroy had become concerned about the working relationship 
between Guerrero and Appellant, and was disappointed that Appellant was unwilling to try 
mediation in an effort to remedy the problems. Directly thereafter, Kilroy received Beye's 
complaints about Appellant's management style from Human Resources. with a report that a 
similar complaint was on the way. Based on that information, Kilroy decided to hove DPD open 
an investigation into Appellant's communication style. While Appellant properly notes that other 



options were available to the Agency. this action was not unreasonable on its face, and thus 
does not tend to prove an inappropriate motive. 

Appellant failed to show that her subordinates' decisions to complain were orchestrated 
by either Guerrero or KIiroy. or that a retaliatory motive guided events by inevitability, design or 
"cat's paw" manipulation. Appellant failed to rebut the Agency's evidence that the 
investigation's witnesses were acting independently of the Agency. and exercising their own will 
in making their statements. Thus. her retaliation claim fails by virtue of her inability to show a 
causal connection between her protected activity and the adverse actions imposed by the 
Agency. 

Based on the foregoing findings and conclusions of law. it is hereby ordered that 
Appelianrs retaliation claim is determined to be unproven based on the evidence, and is 
therefore DISMISSED. 

Done this 17th day of March. 2014. 
alerle McNaughton 

Career SeNice Hearing Officer 

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO FILE PETITION FOR REVIEW 

You may petition the Career SeNice Board for review of this decision, in 
accordance with the requirements of CSR § 19-60 et seq., within fifteen calendar days 
a fter the date of mailing of the Hearing Officer's decision, as stated in the decision's 
certificate of delivery. The Career SeNice Rules are available at 
www.denvergov.org/csa. 

All petitions for review must be filed with the: 

Career SeNice Board 
c/o OHR Executive Director's Office 
201 W. Colfax Avenue. Dept. 412. 4th Floor 
Denver, CO 80202 
FAX: 720-913-5720 
EMAi L: CoreerSeNiceBoardAopeals@denvergov.org 

AND 

Career SeNice Hearing Office 
201 W. Coif ax, 1st Floor 
Denver, CO 80202 
FAX: 720-913-5995 
EMAIL: CSAHearings@denvergov.org . 

ANO 

Opposing parties or their representatives. if any. 


